Saturday 03 April 2004

We left the house at about 11:30am.  We got a bus from Willem de Zwijgerlaan to the train station and got the 12:01 Intercity to Schiphol.  We used two of the KLM Business Class Lounge passes that Art got from work last year.  We had some drinks and chips and nachos and little muffins and Dots (jerky nuggets) and read some newspapers.  

Our flight to Monastir took off at about 3:50pm.

First we landed in Djerba to let off twenty-six passengers, and then we took off again for the short flight back north to Monastir.

After 28 minutes in the air, we got our luggage and a Neckermann representative told us which bus to board outside.  We found our bus, left our luggage in the compartments underneath, and sat down.  An old woman on our bus had forgotten to pick up her suitcase so we had to wait for her to slowly walk back to the airport building to get it.

Because of the many one-way streets in Sousse, we took a somewhat circuitous route to our accommodation, the Tej Marhaba apartments.  On first glance our room was rather plain, just two single beds pressed together, a simple bathroom and kitchenette and some simple furnishings, with a small balcony facing the street, and the beach beyond.  We had a working refrigerator, which we used a lot, plus a small stove which went unused, and some dishes and pots and pans.  

The TV did not work, but later we found out that a remote control was needed to operate it.  We had to unplug it to turn it off, and none of the buttons on the unit itself worked at all.  There was a big shortage of remote controls in the apartments.  One day we had a remote control, but when we returned back to the room later, the remote had been taken away by the cleaning crew.  We asked for another one, but could not get one until the next morning.  After that we always hid the remote during the day and even on the last day we took the remote control with us when we went out.

Saturday night we took a walk around the hotel complex and saw that the lobby of the Tej Marhaba hotel was quite nice, luxurious even, with lots of places to sit down, a fountain and lots of marble.  In contrast, the lobby of the apartments, which by the way had no signed entrance on the street side, was small, with only a few cushy chairs.  When we first arrived there was a cat snoozing on one of them.

After looking around the lobby of the Tej hotel, we took a walk outside towards the center of town.  We found a cash machine and I pinned 200 TND.  Not far from there we found a restaurant called The Albatros where we decided to sit down and have something to eat.  We each ordered a pizza and a Celtia (Tunisian beer).  There were other tourists as well as locals eating there, and the atmosphere was nice.  After our meal we walked back to the apartment to turn in, at around 11:15pm.

Sunday 04 April 2004

We woke up shortly before 8:00am and got ready to leave.  The power in the apartment went out at 8:15, just as Arthur was going to take his shower.  He bathed in the dark, what a trooper.

We headed out towards the city. First we walked to the Tej Marhaba beach and walked a bit along the shore in the sand.  The beach was quite nice, with fine sand and clear blue water.  We found a patisserie close to the medina where Arthur got a sticky roll and a croissant for breakfast.  I had a pasty which looked sweet but which turned out to be stuffed with potatoes and tuna.  It was okay but it left a fishy taste in my mouth afterwards, icky.

We walked to the medina and explored the souks for a while.  In the jewelry souk I looked for a pearl ring and even tried one on in a shop.  The shopkeeper (or maybe just the closest guy on the street to the shop at the time – hard to tell) had a large dark red birthmark on his face. The ring was kind of shaped like a horn with the pearl coming out of the end, and it cost 140 TND.  We said we would think about it and we left the shop.  As we walked away, the birthmark guy came to us and said he had another shop where there were cheaper rings, would we like to see?  We politely declined.  

We walked on a bit and sat down at a tea room where there was a craftsman working outside, hammering designs into copper plates.  Arthur had a Coke and I had a mint tea, with real mint leaves in it.  We saw the birthmark guy again, bringing back a tray of tea cups to the counter of the tea room.  He again invited us to his other shop!

When we were done with our drinks, we looked at the copper plates the man had been working on.  The man was gone but as we admired the plates the waiter who had served us our drinks told us the prices of each size of plate and said that we could have one personalized if we wanted.  We decided to get a medium-sized one for 4 dinar and wanted to have “Tunisia 2004” as the inscription.  Much to our surprise the waiter sat down at the workman’s bench and banged out the text for us.  We were so happy with the plate that we paid him 5 dinar and were on our way.

We walked back to the Kasbah-archaeological museum of Sousse, where were saw some really impressive mosaics in a very nice setting.  In one of the courtyards there were some orange trees in full fragrant bloom.

After our visit to the museum, we walked into the residential area to the west of the medina to find the Catacombs of the Good Shepherd.  There are many catacombs around Sousse but only these were open to the public.  On the way there, we saw a cat, presumably a stray, limping along with a plastic bag looped around its back leg.  I wanted to help it so I followed it down a side street.  It tried to jump over a low fence in front of a house and yard, about 4 feet of concrete topped with a gate.  It struggled over and the bag got stuck in the gate so it couldn’t make it over.  I approached the cat to try and get the bag loose without getting too close to the cat in case it became frightened and scratched at me.  It looked back at me in fear and I saw that one of its eyes was cloudy and its face looked a bit scratched up.  Just as I was asking Arthur to get out his Leatherman tool so I could try to cut the bag, a woman came out of the house and smiled at us and looked at the pitiful cat.  Without hesitation she walked right up to the cat and tore the bag off.  To our flabbergasted surprise, the cat jumped down into the yard, and hopped into a cardboard box sitting in the grass, full of small kittens!  The cat was the mother of a brood of five or six baby cats.  She settled in, looked at us defiantly and tended to her babies.

We walked on to the catacombs.  There was an older German couple also on the same route as us.  Eventually, together, we found it.  The Germans were through the catacombs very fast; they were done before Arthur and I were done looking at the maps in the entrance.  They were not impressed, having seen many other catacombs all over Europe.  In truth there was not much to see.  There were a few skeletons on display (as found) behind Plexiglas, but there were dozens of flat square areas along the walls where there probably used to be mosaics or at least text to mark the graves behind them.  We had our flashlights with us so we could shine them in some darkened places, but overall it was not much to see and not really worth the long trek into the suburbs, except of course for the sight of those sweet little kittens.

We walked back to the medina and followed a straight road which cut all the way across to the other side.  Along the way I bought a small handmade bowl and a mug at Everything’s a Dinar.  We sat down at a dingy eatery called National which was mentioned in our Rough Guide as a reliable place.  The tables were dirty but the big plates of couscous we ordered were tasty and very filling.  
We still wanted to visit the Great Mosque and the Ribat, but they were already closed for the day.  

We decided to walk back to the hotel, stopping at some car-rental places along the way to see what the prices for 7-day car rental were.  We checked out 3 or 4 places and got a good idea of prices but didn't make any final decision yet.

Back at the hotel we got a remote control for the TV and watched some BBC World and relaxed a little while.  At 6:30pm we went to the heated indoor pool of the hotel and had a swim until about 7pm, when the pool closed.  We freshened up a bit in our room and walked to a nearby pizza place to have dinner.  Arthur had a pizza again, and I had spaghetti bolognaise, which was pretty good.

We were back in our room at around 9pm and in bed by 10.

Monday 05 April 2004

We woke up at 6am and got ready.  By 6:45 we left the room and walked to the train station of Sousse.  We got two second-class return tickets to Tunis on the 7:21 train. After we bought the tickets we got two croissants and a pastry to have for breakfast on the train.   We found two seats by a window and settled in for the two-hour ride north to Tunis.

Once in Tunis we found the metro to the TGM light rail line to the northern suburbs.  We got off at station Carthage Hannibal and visited four different sites: the Antonin Baths, the Roman Theatre, the Carthage Museum, and the Roman Villas.  It was a lot of walking around and by the time we reached the museum at the end we were very hungry because we hadn’t seen one single place to eat in the meantime.  Outside the museum there was a guy with a small stand and when we looked over at him he yelled "sandwiches" – just what we wanted to hear.  So we walked over like hungry zombies.  We each had a tuna sandwich on hard French bread with "salad", which was just chopped up onions and tomatoes.  The tuna was so wet with oil that my bread was completely drenched and it was just a little bit gross, but I ate it all (after literally wringing out some of the oil).

After visiting the museum we walked back to the metro and took the next train on to Sidi Bou Said, the beautiful coastal white-washed village.  We had a nice walk around town, first sitting in a fairy-tale-like park, complete with fragrant and colorful flowers, orange trees in full bloom, a fountain and a waterfall, and even some lazily begging cats.

We walked up to a high point in the village and looked down on the very beautiful harbor and the shoreline.  Back in the village we had dinner in an open-air restaurant where we sat on white-washed concrete slabs which were covered with old rugs and pillows, next to rusty blue round tables, and completely surrounded by cats.  We had couscous with chicken, tomato salads with tuna on top, and French fries.  We gave all the tuna and some of the chicken to the appreciative cats.  

We lounged there for a while after eating and at around 5:15pm we had a look at the train schedule.  We realized we could get a train at 6:45pm or after 9pm, so we decided to pack it in and make a run for it.  We were lucky.  We made a TGM pretty quickly, and hopped on a metro shortly before it left.  We made it to the station in time to get a good place on the train.  
We decided to walk back to the apartment from the train station.  On the way we stopped at a grocery store to get some yogurts, cakies and yogurt drinks for breakfast on Tuesday morning.
Tuesday 06 April 2004

We slept in this morning and got up at around 10am.  We got ready and walked towards the medina.  On the way we checked the price of renting a car from Europcar; a C-class car was about 450 TND so we thought we would go back there later.  We checked the price at Budget again and the same strange guy with really bad teeth we had seen earlier was all hinky and he didn’t remember us and we couldn't really reserve a car for the next day, he only told us it was fine and not to worry.

We walked to the Great Mosque and had a look at the courtyard.  Next we walked to the Ribat and walked around the three floors.  On the ground floor I heard some cat-shouts, and I went looking for the source.  In a dark room which was partially blocked by a wooden board, I heard the screams coming from a cardboard box.  I breached the short wall and looked inside the box.  It was full of about 6 small kittens, one of which was freaking out and making all the noise.  The other five were in a pile in one corner of the box, trying to sleep.
On the second floor we found more.  There was a pair roughhousing kittens playing next to their mother, who came over to me.  I gave her a pet.  Next I climbed up the tower.  The stairs were very narrow and claustrophobic and scary, but I went to the top anyway.  Arthur decided to say behind and we took photos of each other from our different vantage points.  The view from the top of the tower over the sprawling city of Sousse was really nice.

After visiting the Ribat we walked out of the medina to have lunch at a fast-food place called Caracas.  We each had a nice pizza and shared a big bottle of orange soda.
We walked back to Europcar but it was closed.  A guy came running over to us and told us that it would open again in an hour, at 3pm.  We went and sat on the beach for about an hour.  

We came back to Europcar but it was still not open, so we went back to Budget to try and confirm a reservation.  Again the clerk would only say that yes, he would have a Clio Classique for us the next day, at 8am, no problem and no worries.
Back at the apartment after a short rest we had another swim in the indoor pool.  After freshening up we walked out to the Rose and Crown bar, attached to the Tej Marhaba complex, to have a beer before finding someplace to have dinner.
We decided to try the highly recommended French restaurant l’Escargot, which was quite nice and actually served the best food of the whole trip and even better than anything we had eaten before in France!  Arthur had steak with pepper sauce and I had beef stroganoff.  After dinner we headed back to the hotel for a good night rest before our journey into the desert.

Wednesday 07 April 2004

We woke up at 7am and got ready.  We walked to Budget, where were arrived at about 8:15.  The guy wasn’t there yet.  At 8:25 he showed up, but he was acting all hinky again, trying to now discourage us from taking the Clio Classique he had earlier told us was best suited for the desert, pushing instead for us to take a Peugeot 205.  Okay, obviously he didn’t have a Clio for us.  He said he could have a 205 for us, in about an hour!  Frustrated with his lies, we left in a huff.  Europcar was not open (surprise) so we went to Avis, who had quoted us the highest prices a few days earlier when we had  checked out several places.  A friend of the Avis clerk drove us around the corner to a no-name rental place, where we signed a contract for a week-long rental of a Clio Classique for just 400 TND.  We had the car by 9am and after a short stop back at the apartment to pick up our things, we were on the road by 9:30am.
Arthur drove first and he did a really great job.  We had to go through town and the traffic was difficult but we made it out, on the road to Kairouan.
We each took a couple of shifts driving.  We stopped for lunch in Jelma, at a place called Café Selim (or Slim, depending on which sign you looked at).  We got a bag of chips and some candy and pop; the only "real" food they had was crepes which we didn't want.  The snack food set us back 9 TND.

In Metlaoui we had to search a bit for the travel agency that arranged tickets for the Lezard Rouge train.  Our guide books said that Galilee Travel was next to the train station, but it was really on the train platform.  A guy standing outside the station told us unhelpfully, "demain".  We saw some German tourists coming out of the station and they directed us inside.  We asked about the train and were told that the trains of Thursday were full and we would be better off getting the train on Friday or Saturday. We left, unsure if we would come back or not.
Back on the road from Metlaoui to Tozeur we saw some nomad camps, and lots of camels roaming free.  We got out of the car once to take some photos and also saw some nice big, fat, colorful caterpillars crawling around.  

We were in Tozeur at about 5pm and found a nice hotel, Neffer, right by the center of town.  The room rate was only 20 TND including breakfast.  After a short rest we walked out into the oasis and looked around at the lush vegetation.  During our walk we saw some tourists heading into the oasis on 4WD buggies.  

We were hungry so we found a nice place to eat, Republique, but it was just 6:15pm and they would only open at 7.  We took a long walk to the one internet café in town and sent emails to our families.  The Arabic keyboards were difficult to work with and we had a hard time to sign into our email accounts at first.  The connection was really slow too, so we couldn't even check weather.com for the forecast.  

When we were done we went back to Republique to have dinner.  Arthur had a tomato salad to start (with tuna of course) and couscous with lamb. I had an omelette to start, which also came with a small salad and French fries.  I had spaghetti with a lamb chop on top for my main course.

After dinner we went back to our nice hotel room to relax and plan the next day of driving.
Thursday 08 April 2004

We were awoken at 4:30am by a muezzin calling to prayer.  It was really loud, as if the loudspeaker was just outside our hotel window.  After that we both slept lightly.  At breakfast, which was simply French bread with date jam and butter, we hit the road.

We drove out towards the big salt lake, the Chott el Jerid.  On the way there, we turned off to see the Star Wars Canyon, situated by the shrine of Sidi Bouhlel.  We found out about it from a Star Wars’ fan’s trip report, at http://www.toysrgus.com/travel/tunisia/bouhlel/bouhlel.html.  I saw a small rodent running by and we saw a big bird of prey flying over some of the rocks.  There were a couple of shepherds in the area with their sheep, and some wild dogs, one of which followed our car shortly, snarling.  After hiking up the hill and looking down into the valley where scenes from both Star Wars and Raiders of the Lost Ark were filmed, we panted back to the car and proceeded to drive through the Chott.
We stopped a couple of times in the big white dry lake to take photos.  All along the road we were passed by hoards of white land cruisers taking tourists out into the desert for 2 or 3 day “safaris”.  There were a few cafés along the way, some of which had camels made from salt on the side of the road.  One café claimed to offer “toilets confort normal”.  We drove through Kebili and then on to Douz.  On the way we passed a small swarm of locusts (really!) and had to close our car windows just in time to avoid being attacked.
In Douz we asked the tourist bureau where we could rent quads (the 4WD buggies we had seen in Tozeur) to go into the sand dunes, and were informed that the Hotel Sahara Douz was the place to go.  First though, we found a nice place to eat sitting outside in the heat of the afternoon (but at least in the shade), Restaurant de l'Arc.  The whole town was full of white Land Rovers taking tourists on safari.  Douz was a big stopping-over point for these.  At the restaurant we sat next to some British tourists who had also been sitting near us the night before in Tozeur.  Some schoolgirls in blue smocks walked by us while we ate.  Arthur saw one of them hold a very big dead locust by it’s long wings and run after a smaller child with it, taunting.  

After our lunch of omelettes, tomato salads and bread, we drove to the Musee de Sahara, which was very small.  They had some nice displays, including a large Berber tent, but we were done with the whole museum in about 10 minutes. After the museum we found the Hotel Sahara Douz, where we wanted to ask about renting dune buggies.  Unfortunately they were out because they were all away on a 3 day trip into the desert. We decided to walk into the dunes of Douz ourselves. 
First we drove south from Douz on a road that suddenly ended in a small village where a bunch of kids came out nowhere begging for candy and money.  We had a hard time to turn around without hitting any of them and unfortunately had to even close the windows because they were reaching inside trying to grab stuff we had on the dashboard.

Back by the dune, we parked the car a few hundred meters away from the hundreds of camels and touts trying to sell rides, and walked into the Sahara.  It was fun walking over the dunes. We walked towards a palm tree on a large dune and from there had a wonderful view. We saw some tourists coming back on camels. When we were on the tall dune a guy came running to us all the way from the camels and asked us if we wanted to ride a camel. Right, that's why we walked into the desert. 

It was about 2pm when we left Douz and headed for Matmata. Our map showed that the best way to drive was to go back to Kebili and then drive over Gabes to Matmata. We later found out that there is actually a new road from Douz to Matmata which would have cut off a long part of our journey.

We arrived in Matmata at around 5pm and drove right to the Sidi Driss Hotel, which is a troglodyte-style building that was used as a set in Star Wars: A New Hope (ANH).  Lots of tourist busses were parked in front of the hotel when we arrived.  There were also several souvenir stands outside the entrance.  At the reception we asked if they had a room for that night. The guy showed us the room, which was a small cave entered through a misshapen door with a padlock, with two simple beds inside, and a couple of hooks on the wall.  The walls were painted white.  We had to go through several corridors and courtyards to get to the room. The hotel was swarming with dozens of tourists, all running around, gaping and taking pictures. By the time we got our key and our stuff into the room (#17) all the tourists were gone. 

Dinner, which was included, was at 7pm, so we decided to walk around town a bit first. There was not much happening but we did get to see some other troglodyte dwellings from the top, including most of the hotel.  We wanted to sit down on a low stone fence somewhere, but Arthur noticed that there were teeny tiny little red spiders running around all over the surface, so it wasn’t a good idea to sit there.

The meal was served in the central courtyard in which ANH was filmed. There were still large parts of the set left, mainly foam parts painted to look like big metal gears and other equipment (“vaporators”).  There were only four other people having dinner at the same time with us. Long tables were set up in the middle of the courtyard. Later, when we were almost done, a group of five new people came in and had dinner. We thought that there were only about 5 other rooms occupied.  As an appetizer we each got a fried omelette, then tasty couscous with special 'couscous sauce'. For dessert we got some sticky cookies which unfortunately neither of us enjoyed.  We had some beers from the “Star Wars Cantina” and went to bed at about 9:15.

Friday 09 April 2004

We woke up in at 7am. We showered in the communal showers, which was kind of difficult because they were very basic and a little dirty. We had breakfast in the same courtyard again. They had sat up some tables and we sat next to two Americans who were studying in Italy and in Tunisia for 12 days during their spring break. They had had a horrible day on Thursday.  They wanted to see some of the smaller villages south of Matmata.  They investigated going by public transport, which would have involved taking three or four different shared taxis, or louages, and just getting there would have taken the better part of a day.  So they found a local guy who was willing to drive them around to several villages for 90 TND.  The 1950-something Peugeot pickup truck ended up with a broken axle after taking a bad bump, and the three Americans were stranded in the middle of nowhere for over three hours waiting for the guy to arrange some kind of transport back.  I had heard them come in the night before, sometime after 10pm.  They had hoped to be back in time for dinner.  They had done laundry on Wednesday night and left their things to dry all day on Thursday.  They thought it was funny that all of the tourists who had visited the hotel on Thursday must have taken photos of their underwear!

We left the hotel at 9am and got some cakies and yogurt drink from a small supermarket (by this time I couldn’t even look at the French bread that was served as breakfast. The choice of drinks was coffee or hot milk).  We drove north to Gabes and then south towards Medinine, where we got off the road and visited an old ksar settlement.  It was deserted, but some of the little stacked caves were used as a hotel (probably even more basic than the Sidi Driss, if that’s possible) when there was demand. 
We headed back north because we wanted to get the Lezard Rouge train in Metlaoui on Saturday morning. Metlaoui is on the other side of the country, so we did a lot of driving this day. The worst part was that between Gabes and Gafsa there was about 50 kilometers of construction.  The dreaded signs read “travaux”, but we saw hardly anyone actually doing any work on the roads.  It seemed to us that they tore up kilometers and kilometers of road without finishing any one piece before moving on.  We had to drive to very holey asphalt, small and big rocks and big holes and were worried that it would damage the car.  There were few other cars making this route (and indeed if we had known of the poor condition of the road we would certainly have made a detour).  At one point we saw a large tour bus on the side of the road with all the tourists moping around outside.  We saw that they had a flat tire, what a nightmare!  

We made it eventually to Gafsa, where we desperately tried to find something to eat. But at 3pm all restaurants were closed. Arthur bought a pastry, which he thought was sweet, but there was tuna inside so he threw it away. In the meantime I had been feeling quite bad since the visit to the ksar: nausea, cramps, and headache.  We drove on to Metlaoui and checked into the Serja hotel.

After checking in I laid down and Arthur drove to the train station to reserve two places on the Lezard Rouge for the next morning. Our hotel room was supposed to have air conditioning, but the unit only blew out hot air.  We learned later that all of the A/C units in the building were not working.  The TV only had two channels and the fridge, though it worked, was extremely dirty and gross.  
Amy rested for a while longer and then we went out to find something to eat. First we went to the Magasin General, where we bought 10 TND worth of cookies, drinks and chips. We really wanted to prevent another situation like we had in Gafsa earlier – stranded with no food whatsoever.  

There was only one restaurant in town.  The menu was in Arabic only and though the staff was very helpful in trying to explain to us our choices in French, we decided not to take any chances and went back to the hotel for their overpriced menu.  The restaurant was humongous, with hundreds of tables, obviously there to accommodate several tour busses, maybe during the lunch rush after a Lezard Rouge run.  We were the only ones eating there that night.  The waiter was a complete jackass, very rude and obviously he wanted to be anywhere except in the restaurant helping us.  We each got an omelette, turkey with greasy fries, and two oranges.  One of the oranges was completely red inside, like blood.  A little creepy to look at but completely tasty.  The rip-off bill came to 18 TND.  We felt bad that we hadn't eaten at the small restaurant with the Arab menu, as the people were so friendly, but we (especially I) weren’t adventurous enough.

We went to bed at around 9pm. Twice in the middle of the night there was very loud calls to prayer. We had the window open because it was so hot, so the muezzin was very loud. I got up about seven times in the night to use the toilet, my “Berber’s revenge” getting progressively worse as the night wore on.
Saturday 10 April 2004
We got up at 8am.  I was feeling very bad and kept having to return to the toilet.  Arthur gave me some Imodium pills and I took two for good measure.  They helped a lot.  For a while we weren’t sure if we should get on the train, or just head back to Sousse as soon as possible.  We skipped the hotel breakfast (undoubtedly bread with date jam again) and just sat in the car having some of our cakies.   

We drove to the train station, where we arrived at 9:20. I decided to go for it.  There were already many cars and one tour bus parked in front of the previously deserted train station. The station was completely white and light-blue, just like all other stations and metro-stops in Tunis. We quickly went to Galilee Travel where we paid the 20 TND each and got our tickets (and happily learned that yes, there was a toilet on the train). People were already boarding. We sat down in the second-to-last wagon, the bar wagon. The cushy seats here faced sideways.  The walls and bar tables were made of dark wood.  We were the first ones in the car, but after a few minutes a large group of about thirty Arabs came out. They were probably from the tour bus, or another tour bus that arrived later. They filled up the whole wagon; they were sitting on the floor and standing all over the place.  We were the only foreigners. It was 9:30am when they started signing and dancing, which was fun to look at. They seemed like a family. One of the men was really joking and singing and dancing the whole time, and everyone was really laughing at him and having a good time singing familiar songs. They were speaking in Arabic and French, and they were dressed like westerners.  We wondered where they were from.

The train left at 10:00am and started its way through the mountains. The views were truly breathtaking. We went through gorges and very high mountains. We opened our window and hung out to take pictures. We went through tunnels, so a few times we had to go back inside in time to not have our heads chopped off. The train stopped twice at remote stations close to phosphate mining operations.  We saw huge machines taking phosphate out of the ground and bring it to train wagons on very long belts. 

At the second station we could go out because the locomotive had to be moved onto the other side of the train for the return journey.  The train was very nicely restored.  We looked at some of the other cars.  One was lushly decorated in wood paneling and red carpeting, with old-fashioned red armchairs to sit in.  Another car had simple wooden benches for seats.  Like the rest of the train, the toilet was decked out with luxurious dark wood detailing.  From the early 1900s, the outside was painted red and one could stand outside the wagons, on the dangerous piece in between.

On the way back Arthur stood between two wagons to have a better view while I, still feeling bad (but better), stayed inside. The trains stopped and let everyone out at a very nice piece in a gorge. We both got out and took lots of pictures.  We boarded again in a different car, with all the other European tourists. There Arthur stood for a while in the back of the train, where he could look on the rails as we passed by.

We got back to Metlaoui station at 1pm. We decided to drive by the Magasin General again to get some fresh yogurt drinks, but it was closed.  We got some drinks at a small shop instead.

At around 1:30pm we started the long drive to Le Kef (also known as El Kef). First we drove to Gafsa, then to Kasserine, and eventually on to Le Kef. The scenery was very nice, with lots of high mountains on the left (the highest peak in Tunisia lies west of Kasserine) and lush green fields to the right.

About an hour before Le Kef I had to pee very badly. We had already stopped by the road where Arthur peed behind a bush, but I was too shy to do that. We went into a town called Taslaa (?) to find a café with a toilet for me. We found a café with lots of men inside, who were of course all staring and smiling at us when we came in. I'm sure they never have a woman come in their café before. They were watching satellite TV on a nice large screen and one guy was preparing a half dozen sheeshas. I asked for the toilet and was directed to back corner.  I wish the guy had just told me “no toilet”, it was that gross.  Tarantino-gross, even.  I made an icky-poo face when I went in and the men in the cafe laughed. 

We bought a bottle of water at the shop next door and got back to the car. When we drove out of town we saw hundreds of people standing around a field where traditionally dressed men were mock-fighting on horses. We got out to have a look, but when we arrived at the scene the event was just finished and dozens of the male spectators turned around and stared at us. That happened in a lot of places: we would drive through a small town and everyone would just stare at us. Kids under ten waved at us and men from 25 to 88 simply stared at us.  This time, people even started walking to our car to inspect it as we made our way back. They were pointing at stuff in our car as we drove out of town.

We arrived in Le Kef at about 6pm.  I navigated us through the winding narrow streets to Hotel Venus.  The town is situated against a mountain and the roads just got smaller and smaller as we got closer to the hotel. When we checked in the friendly clerk enthusiastically explained to us that tonight the junior soccer team of Djerba was staying in the hotel, and the senior team was staying in their sister hotel in town.  When he saw my passport he asked, “American?”  When I nodded yes, he showed us the check-in cards of two Kiwis that were also staying in the hotel.  Sure, Kiwis.
That evening we had dinner at the Venus Restaurant, about 10 minutes walking from the hotel, owned by the same people. There wasn’t a menu.  Our waiter just barked at us: “OMELETTE OU BRIK OU SALAT ET ESCALOPE OU BIFTEK OU FISH.”  Another touristy rip-off joint with a monopoly on the town, great.  We didn't know what the prices were and foolishly, we didn’t ask.  The bill was a whopping 22 TND.  

Walking back to the hotel from the restaurant, we passed a publinet where we sent a couple of emails back home.  We got to bed around 10pm, and I only had to get up twice in the night to use the toilet, a definite improvement.  
Sunday 11 April 2004
We got up at 7am and had a very nice breakfast in the lobby while watching BBC News with the two New Zealanders and two Frenchies.  Breakfast was a cakie, bread (of course), tea, and a hard-boiled egg which was hard to peel.  Our yokes both almost fell out.  We checked out at around 8:30 and go to the car. It was lightly raining. 
As we got into the car a man passed by on the street and pointed out to us that our back right tire was a bit flat. Oh no! We drove to a Total gas station where Arthur asked, a bit desperately, "PNEU – FLAT – HELP!", but they said they didn't do tires and basically dismissed him.  One of the local customers took pity on him and pointed out a red and blue tire-shoppie (that they have millions of around the country), just 300 meters down the street. 
There we parked and Arthur got out and kind of pointed at the tire.  Two young guys came out and without a word jacked up the car (with me still inside) and removed the bad tire in about 10 seconds.  Arthur tried to ask if they needed the spare tire, but I asked “repare?” and one of the young men nodded: they were going to repair the tire.  It took the two guys about 15 minutes to find two big nails stuck in the tire, remove them, and fix the holes.  We were wondering how to best ask for a receipt, in case we wanted to ask for the money back from our travel insurance.  They put the repaired tire back on the car and asked for 5 TND (about €3!).  No need for a receipt!  And we gave them 6 TND for good measure.  

Overjoyed with our newly fixed tire and hoping the 5 TND patches would hold, we drove on, first to the unique remains of Roman Bulla Regia. We took Route 5 towards Tunis and then the P17 towards Jendouba. We got a bit lost in Jendouba, accidentally flooping onto the P6 to Beja, but eventually we found the place.

Bulla Regia was very nice. There are two unique things about the remains here.  One is that many of the original mosaics there have been left in situ, whereas at many other Roman sites any intact mosaics have been moved to various museums (mainly the Bardo in Tunis).  The second unique thing about Bulla Regia is that the villas, the homes where the Romans lived, were built in the ground, much like the modern ones in Matmata.

We first walked to these underground villas, which had huge underground basement courtyards, some with some very nice mosaics. The furthest house from the main entrance of the site had a wonderful mosaic of a cupid riding a dolphin, while holding a mirror to look at his reflection. Afterwards we walked back to the entrance and passed some other ruins.  Especially the theater was nice, which had a mosaic of a bear in the middle. We took lots of pictures.

At around 1pm we left Bulla Regia and took a scenic route south to Dougga.  We drove via Bou Salem, Thibar and Teboursouk. From Teboursouk it was 7 km over a narrow route where we were often pressed off the high asphalt by oncoming maniac louages and busses. The scenic route was very nice, although it was a bit foggy and cloudy the whole time. It was also surprisingly cold all day this far up north. I was happy to  have my turtleneck sweater with me, which I wore under a big cotton sweater with a scarf around my neck.  The scenic route took us through very green mountains with lots of trees, dangerous roads, and lots of sheep.

We got to Dougga at 2:45pm and paid the 5,200 TND fee to get into the park. The site was awesome, with great ruins to see as well as covering a lot of ground. We walked from the theater to the capitol, forum, Temple of Caelestius, Arch of Alexander, Cisterns of Ain Mizeb, back past the capitol to the Lincinian Baths, and then around the Temple of Concordia back to the theater. We spent about 2 hours at the site, which was much too short, but we had had enough Roman ruins for that day and unfortunately I was still feeling bad at times. The site is built against a mountain and we had to climb a lot and I needed to stop and rest regularly. Before we got back on the road we sat at the restaurant (Arthur had an ice cream cone and I sipped at a Coke). We decided to drive back to Sousse, as our books indicated there were few acceptable hotels in the area and it would be good to save money, plus I would be happy to be in our “own” place. So we drove in one long stretch from Dougga up to Tunis and then via the country’s one highway down to Sousse. 
Unfortunately in Tunis we got horribly lost. We had hoped that we would get onto the highway by sunset, but as we were getting close to Tunis we were following signs to Sousse when suddenly the route ended.  It was comical; the signs clearly pointed the way to Sousse for several kilometers outside of town, then I took a right, and the road ahead was blocked.  I said with trepidation, “I don’t see where to go”, and Arthur could only shrug.  The paved road ended at what looked like a permanent road block going straight ahead, and a small dirt path led off to the left, which took us onto a very busy street right through a busy part of Tunis.

There were no signs indicating the direction to anything anymore.  Signs to Sousse had disappeared, but there weren’t even any signs pointing to anything else which might have helped to orientate us.  After about an hour of driving through these busy streets we spotted the highway, and it was another twenty minutes before we could figure out how to actually get onto it.  We saw no signs; Arthur basically flooped onto the highway by sheer luck.  Then there was still two hours of driving on the highway to Sousse, being passed by maniac light-flashers and passing ancient Peugeot pickup trucks who could barely maintain half of the maximum speed limit.
Back in Sousse we were exhausted from the long day, but also famished.  We had dinner at a nearby restaurant, Le Regal, where they had already turned off the wood fire on which pizzas were cooked.  I had spaghetti and Arthur had chicken with fries.  It was a relief to be back in Sousse and be able eat a decent meal after all the crap we ate on the road.  We had been living on cakies, candy, chips and pop for the last 5 days. 

Monday 12 April 2004

After getting to bed just before midnight the night before, we treated ourselves to a late morning and didn’t hit the road to El Djem until 10:30am.  After an hour and a half of driving through yet more horrible travaux in busy villages, we realized that we forgot my money belt and, even worse, the papers of the car!  We had to go back.  
We decided to drive back over the highway.  We found it quickly and headed back to Sousse.  There was an exit for Sousse Sud, and a sign indicating Sousse Nord was up ahead.  Sousse Nord ended up being Hammam Sousse, really far to the north.  We turned around on the highway and got off at the Sousse Centre exit, only available going southbound.  Back at the hotel we retrieved our forgotten things and hit the road again at 12pm.  We decided to take the highway down this time, instead of going directly over the travaux again.  The signs to the highway lead us all the way back to Hammam Sousse!  At 1:15pm we were back at the Shell gas station where we had first realized we had to turn around.  It took us an hour and a half to get there the first time over the travaux, and just an hour and 15 minutes to get there and back over the highway!

After the shell station (which had a small mosque next to the toilets), I drove on to El Djem.  We were there at around 2pm.  We had a look at the amazing coliseum and then drove to the museum, which had some great beautiful mosaics, plus a restored roman house with mosaics intact.  

We drove back to Sousse and got a little lost coming in from the highway Sousse Sud exit.  Arthur ended up driving in the most crowded piece of Sousse, right between the medina and the corniche.  It was really bad but Arthur did a great job and finally got us onto the corniche where he parked the car.  We walked back to Caracas to have pizzas for dinner, yummy.  Afterwards we took a small walk outside the medina before returning to the car to head back to the hotel, where we watched some BBC World before going to bed.

Tuesday 13 April 2004

We got up, got ready, and drove to Kariouan.  We had a smooth and uneventful drive there.  Kairouan is the city used as Cairo in Raiders of the Lost Ark.
Once in town, someone by the side of the road ran over into the middle of the street and flagged us down. He told us that his car was broken down and he wanted to have a ride into the city.  We politely declined.  We figured it might have been a scam to get us to his carpet shop.  Further on, by the medina walls, a guy on a scooter came up to us when we were stopped by a roundabout.  He started to tell us that we had to go the other way because it was -something- day, we couldn't understand him.  We tried to get rid of him by saying we had a map and showing him our Rough Guide.  He stuck his hand in the window to point at the map and kept talking nonsense and telling us we had to follow him.  He then drove off motioning us to follow and we angrily closed our windows and made faces and said NO!  Quite easily we found our way into the perfect parking place for the medina, continuing on the route we had been on before. 

We visited the Great Mosque and then wandered through the medina.  We also visited the zaouia of Sidi Abid el Ghariani Sahab.  We stood outside the entrance of the zaouia and a guy came over to us, telling us to go inside.  The zaouia was not marked at all. We thought the guy was another scammer so at first we did not follow him.  Then he pointed to out tickets (good for several sites in town) and finally we understood and went inside.

The last monument we visited inside Kairouan the Bir Barouta, which is a well found up a shallow stairway where a camel stands to pump the well when tourists arrive.  We declined to have the poor beast work.  In fact it was only sad to see.

On the way back to the car, we walked through a market.  We got one kilo of fresh strawberries for 1.7 TND.  We found a place to sit down and had a few of them, which we washed off with bottled water.

We left Kairouan and drove 11 km south to Rekkada to see the National Museum of Islamic Art.  What a letdown.  The collection was quite small and we were the only other visitors there except for a student taking notes on the ancient Koran texts inside.  There were also some old coins and broken pottery in the collection.

We were done in Kairouan early so we decided to drive back to Sousse via Monastir.  We drove over a big shallow lake where we hoped we might see some flamingos, but no luck.  We drove by the airport and saw lots of planes taking off, but other than that the ride back to Sousse was not so very exciting.  We drove back to the hotel and parked the car.  

After a rest at the hotel we walked into town.  First we walked through the mall attached to the Tej Marhaba and Arthur had a chocolate crepe.  Next we walked nearly all the way to the medina.  On the way back later we had dinner at a Scandinavian restaurant operated by a Finnish woman.  Arthur had a schnitzel and I had Swedish meatballs, which were served on a hot black piece of wood with a border of whipped potatoes and some nice sauce and salad, all of which I actually ate. We walked back to the hotel.  On the way Arthur had an ice cream from Tutti Frutti.
We got ready to turn in.  I went to bed while Arthur still watched quite a bit of Ashcroft on TV at the 9/11 hearings.

Wednesday 14 April 2004

We got up at 7:30am and got ready. We got in the car and drove back to the car rental place to drop off the Clio. We had a bit of a hard time get there because it was on a one way street and we could not find the way to get there from behind (the right way).  So we did what the guy from Avis had done when he brought us there: we drove the wrong way on the street.

After dropping off the car (which was a bit of a relief), we went to the corniche where we caught the 9am Happy Noddy Train to Port el Kantoui.  We arrived after a very slow and bumpy ride, and walked around the tourist ghetto that is Port el Kantoui.  There were lots of tourists waking around with tank tops and short shorts and no locals to shame them.  We sat down on a bench in a nicely manicured park surrounded by lots of tourist shops with a fountain in the middle (which was not running).  We walked on to the port where a man from a sailing ship told us about his boat, which could take us out for two hours for 25 TND each.  We looked at the photo book and saw there were pictures of dolphins!  We said we would think about it and he said he would make a special price for us, 35 TND for both of us.  He wrote it down for us. We would still think about it.  
We walked out onto the end of the marina and saw some really nice big yachts, one even being taken out on a temporary dry dock and having the bottom cleaned of scum.  After sitting shortly we walked back and sat down at a restaurant where at 11am we had lunch.  I had an omelette and Arthur had a chicken tosti.  There was a cardboard box behind our table where there was a mother cat tending to her 6 very small kittens (three brown tabbies, one grey tabby and two solid black).  First she gave them all a bath and then she lay down to let them nurse.  I gave her two pieces of omelette.

During lunch we had decided to take the boat trip so after paying our bill we boarded and found really nice seats right in the front. As we waited for the boat to leave (which it did at 12:15, 15 minutes late), quite a few British tourists got on.  We left and headed out to sea.  Shortly after leaving, I spotted one dolphin jumping in the water. We went out even further and then suddenly we saw more dolphins, probably one group of four.  The boat stopped for a while and started up again a few times, and the dolphins came to us and swam under the boat and jumped around a few times. Everyone was really excited. It was really great.

On the way back the boat slowed down again for us all to go under to see under the water through portholes at the bottom of the water and the few fish that were swimming around.

Back on shore two hours later, we went back to the same restaurant with the kittens and I had another omelette (second lunch) while Arthur had all the bread and a beer.  The kittens and mother were sleeping.  

We walked onto the beach.  There were people parasailing and jet skiing.  We sat for a while and then watched a parasailing duo take off and land.  Arthur wanted to do it and we thought maybe we would come back to Port el Kantoui later for it.
We caught the 4:30pm (last) Happy Noddy Train back to Sousse.  It dropped us off at our hotel, handy.

After a rest at the hotel (again), we went out to eat.  We went back to l'Escargot, where again I had the beef stroganof.  Arthur had sirloin steak with onions.  We wolfed down all of the appetizers (olives, bread with garlic butter, harissa, spicy hot carrots, potato salad, and potato balls and two small briks) plus a beer each and a whole bottle of water between us.  Yes, I was feeling much better.
On the way home Arthur got an ice cream at Tutti Frutti again ("iedere dag een ijsje bij Tutti Frutti").

We were back early again (around 8pm) where we watched some BBC World (Ray Mears’ Extreme Survival) before sleeping at 9:11pm.

Thursday 15 April 2004

We got up, got ready, and left the hotel at 6:40am.  After a brisk walk to the train station we boarded the 7:21 train for Tunis, with nice seats again facing forward and on the left side, out of the sun.

We arrived at Tunis station and got on the metro train 4 to the Bardo.  When we got off (we had to stand up the whole time) we didn't really see where we had to go.  An old man saw us and led us towards the entrance of the museum, some ways away.  We arrived just as a tour bus arrived and wormed our way through the crowd to buy our tickets.

We spent about two hours inside, looking at all the amazing mosaics and statues inside the beautifully decorated former palace.

After the Bardo we took the metro back to Place de Republique and started walking a bit in the new town.  We stopped to have lunch at a Roti Express, where Arthur had an escalope sandwich and I ordered 6 chicken pieces which ended up being 9 kip nuggy's.

We walked on and had a look inside some book shops. We bought a day-old newspaper in one of them.  Later on in the train we realized we had two copies of the same newspaper, oops.

Just before the medina walls we stopped at a café to sit down and have a Coke and a smile, and watch the passing crowds.  A fly was snacking upon a sticky piece on our table.

We walked into the medina.  We tried to follow a walk outlined in the Footprint guide but shortly after reaching the Great Mosque, we lost it.  It was great to walk through the souks, though.  There were lots of tourist shops (where right away we bought 5 desert roses for 1 TND), but deeper inside we saw lots of regular shops catering to locals, selling all different kinds of stuff, clothes, spices, elaborate cat-baskets used by brides to hold their wedding presents, bread and pastries, fish, etc.

A few times we sat down to rest and once we got some very expensive (rip off) pastries which were actually very tasty.  I got an almond cakie and Arthur got a caramel cakie.  Back inside the souks we looked at some clothing stores and had a bad trial bargaining with a guy over a white shirt.  In another shop after a long negotiation I got a demi-sleeve white shirt, a t-shirt, and a scarf for 18 TND.  In the middle of our negotiations the shop owner’s wife came in and she gasped when I gave my offer of 5 TND per shirt.  A friend of the shopkeeper "helped" us at the end and he asked for a present.  Arthur tried to give him some candies and he laughed his ass off at us.  “Tunisian candies, for a little baby!?”  A minute later we got a hand of Fatima keychain for 1 TND down from 1.5.  The shirt guy first said 35 for the white shirt and 6 for the scarf.

We left the souks/medina and walked through a piece of the new town back to the station.   There were lots of people selling cheap new goods on the streets leading up to the train station.  It was just after 5pm and the streets were soooo crowded with people it was unbelievable.  We got our reservation for the 6:45  train and still had a short look around outside before boarding the train at 6:15.

When we arrived back in Sousse at around 8:45, it was raining a little bit.  We walked to Caracas but saw that it was closed.  Another young couple came to the closed doors of Caracas and also walked away disappointed as we did.  We walked back towards the hotel and had a very cheap dinner at Bella Avenue in town.  We each had a pizza and shared a big bottle of water, total bill 9 TND plus one dinar tip, very good.

We got back to the room not too late and after watching some TV went to bed, exhausted after the long day. 

Friday 16 April 2004

We slept in this morning and relaxed, watching some TV (Arthur discovered some new channels on the TV by discovering how to go above channel 9.  Besides all the French, German and Italian stations, and BBC World, we had also Al Jazeera, Euronews in French, and a Polish music video channel, among others).  We left around 11:30am and started walking on the beach towards Port el Kantoui.  The water was quite rough and the waves were very high.  The sky was a bit cloudy but it cleared up some as we walked on.  Once we stopped for a while and Arthur made a mermaid in the sand and I made a troglodyte house with three small courtyards.
We ended up walking all the way to Port el Kantoui and having a late lunch at the same place with the mother cat with six small kittens.  When the bill came to over 13 TND Arthur paid but under protest.  We looked again at the menu outside and did not understand how the bill came to so high. After an argument with our waiter, we got a dinar-something back, but it was still a rip-off.  Arthur was really mad but I didn't mind so much, I was just happy to have seen mama cat with her six babies again.  They were sleeping peacefully the whole time we were there, but once or twice mama cat let me give her a scratch.

The sea was much too rough for any kind of water sports, and even the ship touts didn’t bother us as we walked by.  So Arthur will have to go parasailing another time.

It was nearly 4pm when we headed for the taxi / Happy Noddy Train rank and asked a cab driver how much back to Sousse.  He said 5 TND and Arthur asked if that was the official rate (we had read that the taxis should all have working meters, but I had conflicting reports on the honesty of the cab drivers).  The answer was yes.  We said it was too much and we preferred to take the Happy Noddy Train for the same price.  Then the driver said 4 TND and Arthur asked, is that also the official price (mumble, nod), how is that possible?  So instead of taking a ride with the rip-off cab driver we decided to take the Happy Noddy Train for 5 TND together anyway.  After almost two weeks in Tunisia, our nerves were starting to get a little frayed.  

We were dropped of at the hotel and after a short rest we had our last swim in the hotel's indoor pool.  After about a half hour, at around 5:45, it got really crowded with kids so we left.

Again after a short rest in the room (Arthur had a shower too) we walked back towards the city to have dinner. We chose The Albatros again.  We each had an appetizer (Art salad Tunisienne and I had tomato salad) and we snarfed down all the bread, harissa, olives, salad and big beans that came before.  For an entrée I had chicken with mustard sauce and Arthur had couscous with legumes, half of which were extremely hot peppers!  He was really sick to his stomach later that night.

After dinner we simply walked back to the hotel and turned in after watching a bit of TV.
Saturday 17 April 2004

We had another late start this morning, lazing in bed watching TV and slowly packing our stuff and getting ready to leave.  At around 11:30 we went downstairs with our bags which we left in a room in the lobby.  We took our daypacks and walked into the city.

We walked past a lot of the restaurants we had eaten at all week, and we took some photos of the places.  We sat down by the caleche stop and rested a while.  Then we walked on to the harbor, where we sat for a long while on some uncomfortable rocks by the edge of the pier, where there were lots of other locals sitting and enjoying the fine weather and watching the big waves break over the rocks on the end.  Sometimes if the wind was blowing very hard we felt some drops splash on us from the side.   It was nice.  Then we walked back towards the medina.  We sat down at Caracas one last time to have something to eat.  We each had a chicken sandwich and split a bottle of Coke Light and a plate of fries.  Yummy and only 5.5 TND, woo hoo.

In the medina, we looked inside of the tourist shopping centers, where we checked out the high prices of pottery and Arthur bought a small souvenir for his brother.  

We walked through the souks, following the signs to the El Kobba Museum. When we arrived there at about 2:15pm it was closed, to reopen at 3:00.  We walked deeper into the medina and found the fix-price shop The Grotto, where we bought some hats and other small souvenirs.  Walking back to Everything's a Dinar, we bought some more small bowls as gifts and for ourselves.  We walked back to the museum just in time.  It was really hot outside and we were both sweating in our pants.

The museum was small (shock), set in a traditional house.  There were rooms arranged with models dressed in wedding gear showing the steps from choosing cloth to dressing the bride.  There were also some model shops.  Everything looked nice but there was no text to accompany the dioramas at all, which was a little bit strange. 
We looked around a little bit more in the medina before heading back into the new town.  We went back to Bella Avenue to have second lunch/early dinner.  I had salad Tunisienne and Arthur had a strange hamburger with some fries.  Including a bottle of water our bill was less than 4 TND. 

We walked back to the hotel where we got our stuff and waited along with the other Neckermann tourists for the bus to come.  We were there at 4:30pm, our bus was supposed to come at 4:58 but it didn't show up until 5:25.

We arrived at the airport and checked our bags.  We looked at the screens for our flight, which was supposed to leave at 7:50, and saw that virtually all of the other charter flights we horribly delayed, some over 5 hours.  Fortunately our flight left on time.  We arrived at Schiphol and picked up our bags, caught the next train to Leiden and from the station took a taxi home, where we arrived at around 1am.
###

